

# **Contents**

Introduction	4
Interpreting this Code	4
A Global Committment	4
Where to find assistance	4
PART A – Australian Pharmaceutical Industry Code of Conduct: Overarching Principles	5
PART B – Ethical interactions with Healthcare Professionals	6
1. Requirements for promotional claims directed at healthcare professionals	6
1.1 Substantiating Data	
2. Requirements for material directed to healthcare professionals	7
2.1 Required inclusions for materials including promotional claims	
2.2 Minimum Product Information (MPI)	
2.3 Required inclusions for product-related materials that do not include promotional claims	
2.4 Content hosted online	
2.5 Social Media	
2.6 Prescribing Software	
3. Educational Material for Healthcare Professionals	10
4. Events	11
4.1 Company Educational Events Held in Australia	
4.2 Third Party Educational Events Held in Australia	
4.3 Trade Displays	
4.4 Sponsorship of Healthcare Professionals to Attend Educational Events	
4.5 Hospitality, Travel and Accommodation	
5. Consulting Arrangements with Healthcare Professionals	12
5.1 Remuneration	
5.2 Grants and Other Financial and In-kind Support	
6 Programs for the Provision of Medicines at no cost or reduced cost	13
7. Product Starter Packs	14
8. Scientific Exchange with Healthcare Professionals	14
9. Market Research	15
10. Company Representative Training	15
PART C – Ethical Interactions with relevant stakeholders	16
11. Appropriate Communications with Relevant Stakeholders	16
12. Support for Health Consumer Organisations	16

PART D – Ethical Interactions with Patients and the General Public	17
13. Interactions with the General Public	17
13.1 Promotion of Medicine Delivery Devices to the General Public	
13.2 Educational Information and Disease Awareness	
14. Patient Support Programs (PSPs)	18
PART E – Transparency of interactions with Healthcare Professionals and with Consumers	19
15. Transparency Reporting	19
15.1 Transfers of Value to Healthcare Professionals	
15.2 Reporting of Sponsorship of Third Party Educational Meetings and Symposia	
15.3 Reporting of Health Consumer Organisation Support	
15.4 Reporting Schedule	
PART F - Code Governance	22
16. Administration of the Code of Conduct	22
16.1 Acceptance of Complaints	
16.2 Complaints Process and Handling	
16.3 Complaints against Non-Members	
16.4 Abuse of the Code	
16.5 Sanctions	
16.6 Appeals	
16.7 Monitoring	
17. Committees	28
17.1 Membership of the Code of Conduct Committee	
17.2. Membership of the Appeals Committee	
17.3 Membership of the Monitoring Committee	
17.4 Procedure of Appointment	
17.5 Conflict of Interest	
17.6 Term of Appointment	
18. Code of Conduct Reporting	32
Glasson	22

### Introduction

Medicines Australia leads the research-based pharmaceutical industry of Australia. Our members discover, develop and manufacture medicines and vaccines that help people live longer, healthier lives and bring social and economic benefits to Australia. Our members invest in Australian medical research and take local discoveries and developments to the world.

Australia's innovative pharmaceutical companies support the quality and safe use of medicines. As the custodians of our medicines we conduct ourselves ethically, appropriately communicating relevant information to those relying on our medicines, including patients, their carers and families, healthcare professionals and the broader community. We join together, as Medicines Australia, make sure that our conduct is of the highest standard and that the environment in which we provide access to our medicines is sustainable and fair. The Australian pharmaceutical industry participates in and is recognised by the National Medicines Policy as a vital part of achieving these aims. This Code is the embodiment of our ongoing efforts to ensure we meet these obligations and achieve these goals appropriately and ethically.

The Constitution of Medicines Australia Limited provides that each Member Company must conform to and be bound by both the Constitution and the Code of Conduct.

# Interpreting this Code

This Code of Conduct provides a principles-based framework for appropriate and ethical decision making by Companies when promoting prescription products and interacting with healthcare professionals, health consumer organisations and the general public. It includes overarching principles that govern all activities covered by this Code, as well as more detailed provisions to support these activities.

To enhance understanding and application of this Code, Medicines Australia has created the Code of Conduct Resource Tool Kit. This manual is produced as a separate publication. The Code of Conduct and Code of Conduct Resource Tool Kit are available from Medicines Australia's website.

### **A Global Committment**

Medicines Australia recognises its place as a global leader in ethical behaviour in the innovative medicines industry. As Medicines Australia, we are a signatory to the International Federation of Pharmaceutical Manufacturers and Associations (IFPMA) Code of Practice and ensure its principles are reflected within this Code.

Further, Medicines Australia is a member of the IFPMA leadership group and is a foundation signatory to the Australian Ethical Health Alliance's Australian Consensus Framework for Ethical Collaborations in the Healthcare Sector, which is available from the AEHA's website.

# Where To Find Assistance

If you have any questions or enquiries in relation to the Code of Conduct, please contact Medicines Australia:

### **Ethics and Compliance Team**

Medicines Australia 17 Denison Street Deakin ACT 2600

**Phone:** (02) 6147 6500

Email: codehelpdesk@medaus.com.au

Web: www.medicinesaustralia.com.au

To lodge a complaint, or for information on the complaints process, please email secretarycodecommittee@medaus.com.au

Part A

# Australian Pharmaceutical Industry Code of Conduct: Overarching Principles

In keeping with our commitment to ethical behaviour in the Australian pharmaceutical industry, Companies must ensure that these overarching principles are reflected in all activities covered by this Code.

- 1. All activities undertaken by Companies have the purpose of supporting the quality use of medicines.
- 2. Companies are committed to transparency in their interactions with healthcare professionals and other stakeholders, to maintain trust and confidence in the industry.
- 3. As the primary repository of information relating to their products, Companies are responsible for providing current, accurate, balanced, and scientifically valid information on products to support their appropriate use. The same standards apply to all other Company communications.
- 4. Company employees, and anyone acting on behalf of a Company, will be appropriately trained on the Code and maintain a high standard of ethical conduct and professionalism in the discharge of their duties.
- 5. Consistent with our ethical undertakings, nothing is offered or provided by a Company in a manner or with conditions that would have an inappropriate influence on the approval, recommendation, prescribing, and/or use of a product.
- 6. Companies' interactions with all stakeholders are at all times professional, consistent with all legislative requirements, and appropriate to the information needs of the respective audience.
- 7. Information relevant to prescribing, in particular product and safety information, are clearly communicated in all promotional materials. Promotional materials are designed by Companies to not only create awareness of Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA) approved medicines, but to support proper assessment of their risks and benefits.
- 8. All promotional claims are consistent with the Australian Product Information document, including claims about competitor products, irrespective of the source on which the claim is based.
- 9. All events, initiated or sponsored by Companies, are reasonable and appropriate with respect to hospitality, travel and accommodation, therefore upholding the integrity and reputation of the industry.
- 10. All activities undertaken by Companies are clearly identified to their audience as a Company activity by the inclusion of the Company's name and city/town of the Company's Australian office.

# Part B

### **Ethical interactions with Healthcare Professionals**

# 1. Requirements for promotional claims directed at healthcare professionals

Companies are permitted to promote prescription products to healthcare professionals so long as all information, claims and graphical representations are current, accurate, balanced, consistent with the approved product information, and do not mislead directly, by implication, or by omission. This responsibility relates to any information given or claims made about the product being promoted, other products, disease states or conditions.

- Companies are responsible for ensuring that all promotional claims are referenced and that cited reference/s provide the appropriate level of evidence for the claim being made, reflect the body of evidence, and allow healthcare professionals to independently evaluate the validity of the results and hence the claim.
- If qualifying statements are used with a promotional claim, they should be linked to the relevant claim with a readily identifiable symbol and appear directly below or adjacent to the claim. Qualifying statements must be prominent.
- Companies are responsible for appropriately qualifying where claims are based on animal or laboratory data.
- Any claims for clinical benefit need to be of a magnitude that is generally accepted as clinically meaningful and supported by the body of evidence.
- The statistical significance of comparative claims must be clearly indicated.
- Companies should consider the appropriateness of superlatives and ensure that, when used, the superlative is substantiated by the appropriate level of evidence.
- Wherever a healthcare professional's name, image or a direct quotation from their presentation or unpublished communication is used in any kind of promotional material, the Company should ensure that the healthcare professional provides documented approval.
- 'Hanging' comparative claims should not be used. Examples of 'hanging' comparatives include those that merely claim a product is better, stronger, or more widely prescribed.
- Companies are responsible for having systems in place to ensure all data to substantiate claims is easily retrievable so that they can be supplied on request within 10 working days.

### 1.1 - SUBSTANTIATING DATA

- Substantiating data should not consist of solely of posters, abstracts, 'personal communication' or unpublished data, as these data do not provide sufficient information to assess the veracity of a claim. These data sources can be used as secondary references to support claims.
- Substantiating data can consist of an 'in press' article or data on file where these references are available to be supplied on request and provide the appropriate level of evidence to support the claim. The use of 'data on file' may be appropriate as sole substantiation for a claim regarding prescribing frequency or cumulative patient exposure; however, it would not be appropriate as sole substantiation for a safety or an efficacy claim.
- Substantiating data should be consistent with the body of evidence.
- Selective use of consistent positive results while neglecting consistent negative results from a systematic review or meta-analysis is not appropriate.

- Claims based on pre-specified secondary endpoints where the primary endpoints are not met in a particular study can be used if:
  - i. consistent with the body of evidence; and
  - ii. they accurately reflect the conclusion of the study; and
  - iii. it is clear to a reader that the primary endpoint was not met.
- It is only appropriate to extrapolate from surrogate endpoints where a link between the surrogate endpoint and the clinical outcome has been generally accepted and is supported by the body of evidence.
- The use of post-hoc analyses is acceptable if clearly identified as post-hoc, used in context of the primary endpoint(s) and appropriately qualified. It should be made clear to the reader if the primary endpoint(s) of the original study was not met or if the claims based on post-hoc analyses are inconsistent with the primary endpoint(s).
- Observational data may be used to substantiate a claim when the data is of high quality and represents the highest level of evidence available.
- Animal or laboratory data are insufficient to be used as the sole evidence to support a promotional claim. If animal or laboratory data are used, a qualifying statement must appear identifying this type of data and acknowledging that such data do not necessarily predict clinical effects.
- Claims based on statistical comparisons must include sufficient detail to enable the reader to
  understand the statistical significance of the data. The accepted level of statistical significance is
  p < 0.05 and for multiple comparisons will be lower, as specified in the study publication or published
  protocol when available.</li>
- If the results of a comparative study are not statistically significant, a qualifying statement must be included stating, in full, that the results are "not statistically significant".
- If the results of a comparative study do not include a statement of the significance or lack of significance of the results, a qualifying statement must be included stating that the p value is not available.
- Comparative claims based on studies reporting clinically important differences must include sufficient detail to enable the reader to understand the significance of the data. The minimum clinically important difference, when available and defined for the trial, is the accepted level of clinical significance.

### 2. Requirements For Material Directed To Healthcare Professionals

Material directed to healthcare professionals refers to any material that is developed by the company for distribution to healthcare professionals. Material may be distributed in any manner or form.

- Companies are responsible for ensuring that materials directed to healthcare professionals covered by this section are only able to be viewed or accessed by healthcare professionals.
- Promotional material must be clearly distinguishable as such.
- In all material containing promotional claims, a healthcare professional must have access to sufficient prescribing information for them to appropriately prescribe the product for a person consistent with its approved use.
- Presentation of Product Information (PI) or Minimum Product Information (MPI), qualifying statements, and references must be clearly legible.
- Promotional material should be presented in such a way that visible information is accurate and consistent with the Code when read in isolation.
- Companies may engage with the healthcare professional media for promotional purposes, including issuing media releases and developing advertorial content.

### 2.1 - REQUIRED INCLUSIONS FOR MATERIALS INCLUDING PROMOTIONAL CLAIMS

All types of materials, in all media, that include promotional claims must include:

- Brand name of the product;
- Australian Approved Name(s) of the active ingredient(s) placed adjacent to the most prominent presentation of the brand name;
- One of the following methods to provide information regarding the product:
  - i. The inclusion of the Minimum PI within the material;
  - ii. The inclusion of a URL or hyperlink for PI for electronically accessed materials;
  - iii. Direction to where the Minimum PI or PI is available within the same print publication;
  - iv. Direction that the PI is available from the Trade Display;
- A statement indicating the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS), Medical Benefits Scheme (MBS),
  National Blood Authority (NBA), National Immunisation Program (NIP) or the Life Saving Drugs Program
  (LSDP) status of the product, with or without details of listing, or a direction to where the relevant
  information is available;
- Name of the supplier and the city, town or locality of the registered office; and
- Date that the material was prepared or last revised.

### 2.2 - MINIMUM PRODUCT INFORMATION (MPI)

The Minimum Product Information contains the following information:

- i. The approved indication(s);
- ii. The contraindications;
- iii. Clinically significant precautions;
- iv. Clinically significant interactions;
- v. Very common and common adverse effects;
- vi. The dosage and method of use;
- vii. Any boxed warnings and/or black triangle warning as required by the TGA; and
- viii. A statement directing healthcare professionals to review Product Information (PI) before prescribing. This statement should inform healthcare professionals how to access the PI, including a hyperlink or URL to where the PI is immediately accessible, or a telephone number for the Company medical information service.
- If the Product Information includes multiple indications, the Minimum Product Information may include only information relevant to the indication or subset of indications being promoted.

# 2.3 - REQUIRED INCLUSIONS FOR PRODUCT-RELATED MATERIALS THAT DO NOT INCLUDE PROMOTIONAL CLAIMS

Materials directed to healthcare professionals may contain information about the product that is not considered to be a promotional claim. These may be produced in digital or print format and are intended to remind a healthcare professional of the availability of a prescription medicine.

- Material that includes information about the product and does not contain promotional claims must include:
  - . One of the following methods to provide information regarding the product:
    - The inclusion of the Minimum PI within the material;
    - The inclusion of a hyperlink or URL for PI;
    - Direction to where the Minimum PI or PI is available within the same print publication.
  - ii. A statement indicating the PBS, MBS, NBA, NIP or LSDP status of the product, with or without details, or a direction to where the relevant information is available from;
  - iii. Name of the supplier and the city, town or locality of the registered office;
  - iv. Date that the material was prepared or last revised.
- Material that includes information about the product and does not contain promotional claims may include:
  - i. Brand name of the product and the Australian Approved Name(s) of the active ingredient(s), placed adjacent to the most prominent presentation of the brand name;
  - ii. Description of therapeutic class;
  - iii. Graphics;
  - iv. Statement of available dosage forms; and
  - v. Website address of the company.

### 2.4 - CONTENT HOSTED ONLINE

- For materials hosted online that include promotional claims, whether hosted by a Company or a third party, a mechanism such as password protection for system entry is consistent with ensuring online promotional content is only available to healthcare professionals.
- Where Company-controlled websites reference and/or link to other information sources or internet sites, the Company is accountable for ensuring that these information sources and internet sites are appropriate and will enhance appropriate prescribing, disease state understanding, dispensing and usage of products in Australia.
- Readers should be advised when leaving the site or being directed to a site that the Company has
  not developed, by displaying the following statement before the reference material is accessed:
  "The information a reader is about to be referred to may not comply with the Australian regulatory
  requirements. Further information relevant to the Australian environment is available from the Company
  or via the Product Information."
- It is appropriate for Companies to link their websites to the text of the Code of Conduct on the Medicines Australia website so long as it is not used to imply endorsement but to provide information to healthcare professionals on the Code of Conduct and the standards it sets.

### 2.5 - SOCIAL MEDIA

All activities that utilise any social media platform will be considered in the same way as more traditional media activities.

- Content that can be viewed by the general public should not advertise or include promotional claims for a prescription product.
- Content that includes promotional claims for a prescription product must be restricted to a verified healthcare professional audience.
- Companies are responsible for all content on Company-initiated and/or controlled social media sites and activities.
- Content that does not conform to community standards of ethics and good taste, or which relates to unapproved products or indications, should be promptly removed.
- It is appropriate for Companies to create content that enables its employees to appropriately engage in company social media campaigns.
- Companies should have policies and procedures which describe the roles and responsibility of its
  employees and contractors when interacting in the social media space to ensure compliance with the
  Code of Conduct.

### 2.6 - PRESCRIBING SOFTWARE

- A Company should not place advertisements or promotional statements in prescribing software used by doctors. If such advertisements may be seen by patients/consumers during a consultation, this may contravene the Therapeutic Goods Act, which prohibits advertising prescription medicines to the general public. However, Companies may pay for the inclusion of non-promotional medical education for healthcare professionals, patient educational materials, and/or patient support program materials.
- Medicines Australia encourages the electronic availability of Consumer Medicine Information (CMI) via prescribing software packages to facilitate the use of this information during consultation with a patient

### 3. Educational Material for Healthcare Professionals

Educational material includes resources and items of value directed at healthcare professionals and/or for use with educating patients.

- Companies may provide medical literature, reprints and proceedings of educational events to healthcare professionals, but no part of a reprint or article should be specifically highlighted to draw the attention of the healthcare professional.
- Companies do not offer brand-name reminders or other gifts, which may inappropriately influence prescribing a product. The following are appropriate:
  - i. Company-branded items, of low monetary value, relevant to the conduct of the educational meeting may be given to HCPs attending the educational meeting; and
  - ii. Company-branded educational material.

### 4. Events

Whether Company-initiated or sponsored, activities should be consistent with the Principles of the Code.

### 4.1 - COMPANY EDUCATIONAL EVENTS HELD IN AUSTRALIA

Where the Company initiates and manages the agenda, duration of educational content, and speaker selection:

- The Company should be able to produce objective evidence of the educational value of the event (for example, an invitation or agenda) that clearly describes the purpose, content, meeting start and finish times and duration of educational sessions.
- The educational program should be reviewed and approved through an internal Company process.
- Companies should ensure that healthcare professionals speaking at Company-sponsored educational events or Congresses are aware of the obligation not to promote unapproved Company products or indications. This applies irrespective of whether the Company has provided the healthcare professional with a presentation or other material. Companies should be able to produce documentary evidence of this briefing and its content, which can be publicly disclosed if required. Briefing healthcare professionals giving presentations does not apply to independent third party educational events or company-sponsored educational events where an independent scientific faculty has chosen the topics and speakers.

### 4.2 - THIRD PARTY EDUCATIONAL EVENTS HELD IN AUSTRALIA

Companies are permitted to sponsor educational events which are organised by a society, college, university or other healthcare professional organisation to enhance medical knowledge and improve the quality use of medicines in Australia. These include 'in-institution' educational events, such as journal clubs, grand rounds, multidisciplinary and in-service meetings held within the healthcare professional's workplace.

- The third party organising the educational meeting should independently determine the educational content, select the speakers and attendees.
- Companies should consider the objective evidence of the educational value of the event, including the event location and program, in deciding whether to sponsor the event.
- Financial sponsorship of an independent educational event should be paid to the organisation arranging, conducting or responsible for the event, and not to an individual healthcare professional.

### 4.3 - TRADE DISPLAYS

- The amount paid to the educational meeting organiser for the trade display should be reported as sponsorship in accordance with the requirements of this Code.
- In the case of international or Australasian congresses held in Australia, it is acceptable to display or supply information regarding a product or an indication not approved for registration in Australia, provided any material used clearly identifies that it refers to a product or indication not approved in Australia, and that the product or indication (as appropriate) is approved overseas.
- Products not approved for registration in Australia must be approved for marketing in an overseas country targeted by the conference organisers. An appropriately worded label, prominently located, would be sufficient to satisfy this Section. Information regarding products not approved for registration in Australia, or non-approved indications for a product registered in Australia, must be consistent with the Product Information in the country where the product is registered. Product Information must be available and distributed in accordance with the Code.
- If the primary audience is broader than healthcare professionals, a Company should carefully consider whether the promotional trade display or the information to be made available from a trade display involves the promotion of products to the general public, which may contravene the Commonwealth Therapeutic Goods Act.
- Companies hosting a trade display at a third party scientific or medical conference where non-healthcare professionals have registered to attend should make reasonable efforts to request the conference organisers to include a note in the conference program that staff at company trade displays are precluded by law from giving information about specific products to non-healthcare professionals.

### 4.4 - SPONSORSHIP OF HEALTHCARE PROFESSIONALS TO ATTEND EDUCATIONAL EVENTS

- Sponsorship may be provided to enable a healthcare professional to attend an educational event, provided the meeting is directly related to the healthcare professional's area of expertise.
- Companies are responsible for establishing clear guidelines in relation to the awarding of sponsorship to healthcare professionals which can be publicly disclosed if required.

### 4.5 - HOSPITALITY, TRAVEL AND ACCOMMODATION

Companies may provide hospitality, travel and/or accommodation to healthcare professionals in connection with activities or events. In doing so, Companies will ensure that they act in a manner which upholds the integrity and reputation of the industry and does not compromise the independence of healthcare professionals. Companies will also ensure activities and interactions with healthcare professionals can withstand public scrutiny.

The following principles apply to any activity for healthcare professionals involving the provision of travel, accommodation and/or hospitality:

- A facility should be selected for its appropriateness to enable the activity to be conducted and should not be chosen or utilised for the purpose of leisure, sporting or recreational activities.
- Companies may provide hospitality (food and beverages) if it is secondary to the purpose of an activity.
- Any hospitality provided by a Company to a healthcare professional must be moderate and reasonable as judged by local standards, which in Australia is considered to be a maximum of \$120 per person (excluding GST and gratuities).
- Companies may not provide entertainment to healthcare professionals.
- Companies may provide accommodation to healthcare professionals attending a Company-sponsored/ organised or independent educational event or undertaking a consultancy, provided it is reasonable and appropriate to the time and duration of the event or consultancy, and the usual residence of the healthcare professional.
- Companies may provide travel only in direct association with educational event/s or to undertake a consulting service.
- Companies may sponsor travel for healthcare professionals attending an international educational event in either economy or business class; domestic air travel and to New Zealand is by economy class only. The most direct route should be booked, without the allowance of more time at the destination than is reasonably justified to enable the healthcare professional to effectively participate in the event/s.
- Companies should only support the attendance of the healthcare professional who is participating in the event or providing the service to the company. It would be considered a gift or inducement if a company was to provide hospitality, travel or accommodation to spouses, relatives, guests or companions of healthcare professionals and non-healthcare professional practice staff when they are accompanying a healthcare professional.
- Companies should plan that any meal (food and beverages) provided in another country complies with the monetary limit set by the industry association in that country (where applicable) or, if there is no monetary limit in that country, the Australian principles should apply.

### 5. Consulting Arrangements with Healthcare Professionals

Companies are responsible for ensuring consulting arrangements are consistent with the following:

- A legitimate need for the services should be clearly identified in advance of approaching prospective consultants.
- Records of the agenda, services provided, and contractual arrangements should be maintained by the Company, including meeting minutes (for an advisory board).

### 5.1 - REMUNERATION

- Companies are responsible for ensuring that all transfers of value are reasonable, appropriate, and balanced when considered in context.
- Any remuneration for services rendered should not exceed that which is commensurate with the services supplied.
- A payment (including donations to charities or societies) must not be made to a healthcare professional as an incentive or in return for their attendance at an educational event or trade stand. Sponsorship to enable attendance at an educational event may be provided.
- Financial or in-kind support must not be conditional on the use of a specific product (this excludes clinical research).
- All transfers of value should be reported in accordance with this Code.

### 5.2 - GRANTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL AND IN-KIND SUPPORT

A Company may provide a grant, financial or in-kind support to a healthcare professional, medical practice, hospital, institution or health related organisation:

- i. to implement a quality use of medicine program; or
- ii. for education, training or academic purposes; or
- iii. for medical research; or
- iv. to improve patient outcomes.
- It is recommended that financial support should be paid to a medical practice or health related organisation, rather than paid directly to an individual healthcare professional. A payment to an individual healthcare professional may create the impression that the purpose is not related to the quality use of medicines, education, research or improving patient outcomes.
- A grant or financial support must not be provided to underwrite a commercial business, generate income for the practice or institution, or pay for an employee's salary in part or full.
- Clear guidelines which can be publicly disclosed if required must be developed in relation to the awarding of grants and financial support.
- A Company may temporarily loan a piece of equipment to a medical practice or health related organisation, provided it facilitates the quality use of medicines and the Company has a mechanism for retrieval of the equipment.
- Items provided on permanent loan to a medical practice or health related organisation could be regarded as a gift.

### 6. Programs for the Provision of Medicines at no cost or reduced cost

Companies may offer programs for the provision of a registered medicine at no cost or reduced cost. These programs must be only for the purpose of enhancing patient access or enabling prescribers to gain experience with the product to improve patient care.

- Companies may supply Starter packs at no cost or trade packs at no cost or reduced cost.
- Companies must be aware of jurisdictional and individual institutional requirements for the supply, management and distribution of prescription products.
- Programs must be reasonable and withstand public scrutiny with regard to the amount of stock, duration of program and any other relevant aspects of the program.

### 7. Product Starter Packs

Companies may provide medicines at no cost, whether as a starter pack or another sized pack. This supply must be only for the purpose of enhancing patient access or enabling prescribers to gain experience with the product to improve patient care and when requested by a healthcare professional.

- Starter Pack definition and labelling requirements are specified under the current Therapeutic Goods Order.
- Companies should ensure that they are kept informed of any changes in Commonwealth and State laws concerning the supply of starter packs. A summary of this information can be found in the Code Tool Kit.
- Starter packs of products must be stored and supplied consistent with related product labelling.
- Starter packs of products may only be supplied by representatives employed by the holder of a manufacturer's licence or wholesale dealer's licence or by authorised Company representatives.
- A signed request from a healthcare professional to receive starter packs, including the name and address of person supplied and the name, strength and quantity of the starter packs supplied, must be submitted prior to supply.
- A record of delivery, including the quantity and nature of starter packs, should be kept for a minimum of two years by the Company.

# 8. Scientific Exchange with Healthcare Professionals

Scientific exchange between appropriate Company personnel and healthcare professionals and/or the scientific community can enhance understanding, support patient care (including compassionate access), assist research planning and approaches to clinical care.

- Scientific exchange includes but is not limited to responses to medical information enquiries, disease awareness activities, discussion of pipeline information/corporate commitment to research, satellite symposia during official congress programs, and non-promotional Company events.
- It is reasonable where healthcare professionals are seeking clarity and/or additional information on products not approved in Australia and/or subjects not covered in the Australian Product Information for Companies to provide such information.
- Only Company Medical Department personnel may engage in exchange with healthcare professionals
  or the scientific community around unregistered products or off label topics. Such exchange must be
  non-promotional in intent, content and nature. Any information relating to unregistered products or
  off label topics must be clearly identified as such and must meet the requirements of this Code. Such
  activity should be approved by the Country Medical Director or equivalent.
- It is appropriate to provide the contact details for medical or medical information services to healthcare professionals.
- In digital medical information applications, it is appropriate to provide healthcare professionals with information on unapproved products and uses when this information is only viewable after the healthcare professional executes a search that includes specific search terms relating to the unapproved product or use.

### 9. Market Research

The following principles apply to all market research conducted by, or on behalf of, a Company.

- Market research must be an initiative to collect relevant information to enhance the quality use of medicines and must not be used as a means to promote to and/or reward participants.
- Market research may be undertaken about an approved or unapproved product or unapproved indication. For market research conducted with members of the general public, the product name and/or molecule should not be disclosed. Market research undertaken with patients who have been prescribed a particular prescription medicine may include product-specific questions.
- Market research studies must be clearly identified as such when the initial approach is made to participants. It must be clear to a participant that the market research is being conducted by or on behalf of a pharmaceutical Company, but the name of the pharmaceutical Company need not be disclosed. It is recognised that the disclosure of the name of the Company may bias the research.
- Market research should not be implemented as competitions or quizzes or in any other manner that could lead to confusion as to the purpose of the market research.
- Any transfer of value to a market research participant should be reasonable for the related services and consistent with upholding the integrity and reputation of the industry. Where a Company is aware of the specific named individual healthcare professionals to participating in market research, payments must be disclosed in transparency reports in accordance with this Code.

## 10. Company Representative Training

- All sales representatives entering the Australian prescription pharmaceutical industry for the first time must undertake an endorsed Medicines Australia education program. Sales representatives must enrol within the first six months of employment and complete the full program requirements for sales representatives within two years.
- Any person who is directly involved in the development, review and approval of promotional materials and educational materials for the general public; or who has direct interaction with healthcare professionals for the purpose of promoting a prescription product or providing medical or clinical education must complete the Code of Conduct component of an endorsed Medicines Australia education program within the first 12 months of commencement of employment.
- The requirement to complete an endorsed Medicines Australia education program applies equally to permanent employees or contracted employees. If a medical representative is employed or contracted on a part-time basis for a period of less than two years, they must be able to demonstrate that they are progressing through the education program in a timely manner and complete the program within the equivalent of two years of permanent employment.

Part C

### Ethical Interactions with relevant stakeholders

# 11. Appropriate Communications with Relevant Stakeholders

Communication with stakeholders who have a role in the research, development, registration, listing or monitoring of a therapeutic good is inherent in the National Medicines Policy and in the concept of the quality use of medicines. Companies are permitted to communicate proactively or reactively with relevant stakeholders, provided that discourse is limited to information that may assist the stakeholder in their role.

- This communication is to be non-promotional in nature and is not to be made with the intention to inform patient-level prescribing, or any other clinical decision making relevant to individual patients.
- This communication should only be conducted by appropriately qualified and selected company personnel.
- It is appropriate for Companies to solicit information to assist in understanding relevant aspects of the healthcare environment relating their products.
- Relevant stakeholders include (but are not limited to):
  - i. Member of government or relevant government agency:
    - (a) any therapeutic goods regulator;
    - (b) any therapeutic goods reimbursor;
    - (c) any business regulator (ACCC, ASIC, etc.);
    - (d) parliamentarians and their representatives.
  - ii. Health consumer organisations and patient advocacy groups;
  - iii. Healthcare professional organisations;
  - iv. Supply chain and distribution organisations;
  - v. Current users of the product (patient/consumer) and their carers; and
  - vi. The media.

### 12. Support for Health Consumer Organisations

- Medicines Australia recognises and supports positive and beneficial relationships between industry
  and health consumer organisations. Companies may enter into relationships with health consumer
  organisations with the objective of enhancing the quality use of medicines and supporting better health
  outcomes for the Australian community.
- When entering into relationships with health consumer organisations, Companies should refer
  to Working Together—A Guide to Relationships between Health Consumer Organisations and
  Pharmaceutical Companies, developed through collaboration between Medicines Australia, the
  Consumers Health Forum of Australia and other health consumer organisations. The manual is available
  on the Medicines Australia website www.medicinesaustralia.com.au
- Companies should consider on a case by case basis whether any offer or proposal to sponsor or fund a health consumer organisation or any of its programs is capable of withstanding professional and public scrutiny.
- The selection criteria for sponsorship to enable patients and representatives from a health consumer organisation to attend third party scientific and medical conferences should be based on their specific interest in a therapeutic area.

Part D

### Ethical Interactions with Patients and the General Public

### 13. Interactions with the General Public

- Consumer Medicine Information, risk management materials and Product Information are credible, non-promotional sources of information about a Company's products. A Company may make these documents available to members of the general public, providing they appear in their entire form and are not amended, abridged or displayed in a promotional manner.
- Requests from individual members of the public for medical advice on the diagnosis of disease or choice of therapy must always be refused and the inquirer recommended to consult their doctor.
- Where a specific request is made by a patient or a member of a patient's family about a product which has been prescribed, the company may clarify matters in a non-promotional manner using the Consumer Medicine Information, relevant risk management materials or a patient aid and should otherwise recommend inquirers to consult their doctor.
- Product-specific programs, product information, and patient aids should be provided only to patients already prescribed the product and must not be promotional. Items that are likely to be used outside the home, and thus visible to the general public, may be branded with a Company name and/or a Company logo only.

### 13.1 - PROMOTION OF MEDICINE DELIVERY DEVICES TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC

Promotion of a medicine delivery device to the general public is permitted in restricted circumstances.

• Promotion of a medicine delivery device which is used for the administration of a prescription medicine (including Schedule 3 medicines that are predominantly prescribed by a medical practitioner) and that is distributed independently from the active ingredient, is permitted as long as the medical device is not branded with the name of a particular medicine. The device must be included on the ARTG as a medical device.

### 13.2 - EDUCATIONAL INFORMATION AND DISEASE AWARENESS

It is acknowledged that members of the general public should have access to information on medical conditions and the treatments which may be prescribed by their doctors. The purpose of such information should be educational and should encourage patients to seek further information or explanation from the appropriate healthcare professional.

In addition, the following criteria should be satisfied:

- The information may include descriptions of the therapeutic category including classes but does not include any reference to a specific prescription product.
- The information should be presented in a comprehensive, balanced and fair manner that does not unduly emphasise particular options or the need to seek treatment.
- The emphasis of the educational information should be on the condition and its recognition rather than on the treatment options. The appropriate treatment for an individual patient is for the healthcare professional to decide, in consultation with the patient, and this should be clearly stated.
- The tone of the material must not be presented in a way that unnecessarily causes alarm or misunderstanding in the community nor stimulate the demand for prescription of a particular product.

# 14. Patient Support Programs (PSPs)

Companies are permitted to conduct programs, with or without involvement from a health consumer organisation, that aim to increase patient compliance with, and positive patient health outcomes from, their prescribed medical treatment.

- PSPs must be designed to address a legitimate need, and the clinical rationale for the program should be documented.
- Any communication with a patient enrolled in a PSP should clearly identify the Company and what materials or calls the patient may receive.
- A Company may include information about the availability of a PSP and how to enrol in such a Program as an insert in the Product package. If an enrolment form is inserted in the Product package, there is no requirement for it to be reviewed or approved by the TGA, however it must not be promotional and must comply with this Code and the Commonwealth Therapeutic Goods Legislation. A package insert enrolment form must state: "the Patient Support Program is not authorised or approved by the Australian regulator of medicines, the TGA."
- A Company may use individual patient data to report on whether the program delivers any improvement in compliance, for safety monitoring or to otherwise increase positive health outcomes, so long as the appropriate consents have been provided and all data is used in a de-identified manner.
- Data from a PSP should never be used for promotional purposes.
- Suspected Adverse Drug Reactions noted during monitoring of PSP must be reported to the TGA in accordance with the current TGA pharmacovigilance responsibilities of medicines sponsors.

Part E

# Transparency of interactions with Healthcare Professionals and with Consumers

### 15. Transparency Reporting

- Transparency reporting is a public benefit which provides visibility for consumers of payments and transfers of value made by Australian Companies:
  - i. to Australian healthcare professionals who are engaged in patient care;
  - ii. as a sponsorship of a third party organisation to conduct educational activities for Australian healthcare professionals who are engaged in patient care; and
  - iii. to health consumer organisations to deliver valuable services to Australian patients.
- Reports on these activities must be published in accordance with the Schedule stated in this Code, using
  the templates contained in the Code Tool Kit. Companies may also make these reports available on their
  overall corporate or Australian corporate website.
- An authorised Company representative will provide to Medicines Australia, within seven calendar days following publication of each required report, a declaration that the relevant report includes all payments and transfers of value required in this Code.
- The information disclosed in these transparency reports must be publicly available for three years from the date of first publication.
- Companies are only required to report payments or other transfers of value that are related to prescription medicines. Companies that have separate operating divisions that do not supply prescription medicines for human use (for example, animal health divisions) are only required under this Code to report payments to healthcare professionals related to prescription medicines.
- Companies must comply with Australian Privacy legislation (Privacy Act 1988 (Cth) regarding the reporting of individual healthcare professional data. Each company must establish a means to ensure maintenance of records which comply with Australian Privacy legislation.

### 15.1 - TRANSFERS OF VALUE TO HEALTHCARE PROFESSIONALS

Healthcare professionals provide the pharmaceutical industry with valuable, independent and expert knowledge derived from their clinical and management experience. This expertise contributes towards quality use of medicines and improved patient care.

- It is reasonable for healthcare professionals to be fairly compensated for legitimate expertise and services provided to the industry, and that such compensation be publicly disclosed by the pharmaceutical industry.
- Transfers of value to healthcare professionals that must be reported are:
  - i. Fees paid to healthcare professionals in return for speaking at an educational meeting or event;
  - ii. Fees paid to healthcare professionals in return for consultancy or advisory services;
  - iii. Any remuneration or sponsorship of a healthcare professional as described in this Code. This does not include payments to consultants in relation to research and development work, such as the conduct of clinical trials.
  - iv. Any airfare, accommodation or registration fees directly associated with a meeting, consultancy or advisory service (whether held within or outside Australia); and
  - v. Fees paid to healthcare professionals for the purpose of market research only where the identity of the healthcare professional is known to, or becomes known by, the company. Reporting is not required where the company contracting the market research is not involved in the selection or participating healthcare professionals and is not aware of the identities of those participating in the market research.

- Reporting of all individual payments and transfers of value for each healthcare professional is required, indicating only the following information:
  - i. date of the event or provision of service;
  - ii. healthcare professional's name;
  - iii. type of healthcare professional;
  - iv. healthcare professional's principal practice address;
  - v. description of the service;
  - vi. description of the event;
  - vii. whether the payment was made to the healthcare professional or a third party; and
  - viii. the amount of the payment or transfer of value subdivided into (where relevant) registration fees, travel and accommodation, and fees for service.
- Where healthcare professionals request a payment for any of the above to be made to a third party, these payments must still be disclosed for the individual healthcare professional, however, the report should identify that payment was made to a third party. For the purposes of these reports, a healthcare professional is considered to have directly received the transfer of value of any registration fee, air travel or accommodation. Therefore, these transfers of value should be disclosed as being received by the individual healthcare professional, and not as a payment to a third party.
- Companies will provide the opportunity to review and submit corrections to the information. Healthcare professionals should have a period of at least six weeks to review, verify or correct collected information about payments and transfers of value.
- Companies must not make a transfer of value unless they have taken appropriate steps to give notice of this disclosure obligation, so that the healthcare professional would reasonably expect the disclosure.
- It is not the intent of transparency to capture or report payments or transfers of value to healthcare professionals that arise through the individual's employment by a Company.
- Reports will be published in a central reporting system, which will be searchable and downloadable in a format compatible with database management systems, such as a CSV file.
- In the transition from Code Edition 18 to Code Edition 19, reports previously published on Companies' websites must remain available for three years from the date of first publication.

### 15.2 - REPORTING OF SPONSORSHIP OF THIRD PARTY EDUCATIONAL MEETINGS AND SYMPOSIA

It is reasonable for the pharmaceutical industry to financially support the education of healthcare professionals through sponsorship of meetings and symposia organised by third parties, and that such support is publicly disclosed.

- Each Company will provide a report to Medicines Australia on all sponsorships of independent educational meetings and symposia. The following are examples of sponsorships of independent educational events that must be reported:
  - i. financial sponsorship of a third party educational event;
  - ii. monetary contribution to support the conduct of grand rounds, clinic meetings or journal club meetings;
  - iii. purchase space for providing a trade display at an educational event (including if this is the only sponsorship of the event).
- If a Company only directly or indirectly provides hospitality (food and beverages) for an educational meeting, this is not reportable. However, the hospitality must comply with the requirements of this Code.
- Medicines Australia will make publicly available on its website the completed reports provided by each Company within two months of the date on which the reports are to be submitted to Medicines Australia.

### 15.3 - REPORTING OF HEALTH CONSUMER ORGANISATION SUPPORT

- It is reasonable for Companies to provide financial support and/or significant direct or indirect non-financial support to organisations that work to benefit Australian patients, and it is appropriate for these activities to be reported.
- To encourage consistency in the content and format of these reports, Companies should include:
  - i. the name of the health consumer organisation;
  - ii. a description of the nature of the support that is sufficiently complete to enable the average reader to form an understanding of the nature of the support; and
  - iii. the monetary value of financial support and of invoiced costs. For significant non-financial support that cannot be assigned a meaningful monetary value, the published information should describe clearly the non-monetary value that the organisation receives.
- Medicines Australia will make publicly available on its website the completed reports on health consumer organisation support provided by each Company within two months of receiving the reports.
- It is the responsibility of a Company to inform a health consumer organisation that any sponsorship received by the health consumer organisation from the pharmaceutical company, whether sponsorship of the organisation, a specific publication, website or activity, and including the monetary value of the sponsorship, will be publicly disclosed.

### 15.4 - REPORTING SCHEDULE

Reporting dates are fixed with adjustments only made where the publication date falls on a weekend, in which case the reporting date will be the Friday before.

Report type	Period covered in report	Data submission	Date published
Payments and Transfers of Value to Healthcare Professionals	1 November to 30 April	Submitted to central reporting system	31 August
	1 May – 31 October	Submitted to central reporting system	28 February
Third Party Meeting and Symposia Sponsorship	1 November to 30 April	Due to Medicines Australia 31 August	31 October
	1 May – 31 October	Due to Medicines Australia 28 February	30 April
Health Consumer Organisation Support	Calendar year	Due to Medicines Australia 30 April	30 June

# Part F

### **Code Governance**

### 16. Administration of the Code of Conduct

Medicines Australia is committed to the fair and ethical administration of the Code of Conduct, including the establishment of a Code of Conduct Committee (Code Committee), Code of Conduct Appeals Committee (Appeals Committee), and the Monitoring Committee. This Code sets out the requirements for undertaking each of these activities, and detailed guidelines for lodging a complaint, responding to a complaint, raising an appeal, and responding to monitoring requests can be found in the Code Tool Kit.

- Medicines Australia provides a robust and independent complaint and appeal process where all parties
  are entitled to fair and equitable treatment. If these general principles are not met, the complaint
  may be returned for more information, or the review may be conducted in the absence of a complete
  response.
- On receipt of a complaint which is not covered by this Code, Medicines Australia has the discretion to refer the complaint(s) to a relevant organisation for consideration under its own Code, having regard to the category of the therapeutic good and the target audience for the conduct subject to complaint.

### 16.1 - ACCEPTANCE OF COMPLAINTS

- A Complainant has the burden of proving their complaint on the balance of probabilities.
- Anonymous complaints will not be accepted.
- For Company-initiated complaints, Companies will first seek to resolve all complaints through the intercompany dialogue process described in the Code Tool Kit. Medicines Australia will not accept a complaint from a Company unless it has been clearly demonstrated that inter-company dialogue has taken place and that, despite the reasonable efforts of the parties, the complaint has not been resolved.
- Medicines Australia has the discretion to not accept a complaint if the subject matter has been substantially dealt with by the Code Committee.
- Where substantially the same subject matter is, at the same time, subject to review by the TGA, or is the subject of legal proceedings between the same parties in an Australian court or Administrative Tribunal, Medicines Australia has the discretion to either not accept a complaint; or accept and delay referring a complaint to the Code Committee.
- All documentation, including findings and/or sanctions of the Code Committee, shall remain confidential and shall not be released to any third party, except if required by law, until the Subject Company and Complainant have exhausted all appeal procedures and the outcome of any appeal is known.

### 16.2 - COMPLAINTS PROCESS AND HANDLING

The following procedures shall apply in the event of Medicines Australia receiving a complaint alleging contravention by a Company of the Code of Conduct.

- On the receipt of a complaint, the Chief Executive Officer of Medicines Australia or their delegate shall acknowledge the complaint in writing within five (5) working days of receipt. All complaints shall be dealt with as expeditiously as possible.
- The Company that is the subject of the complaint (Subject Company) shall be given full details of the complaint lodged with Medicines Australia. The Subject Company will be invited to state within ten (10) working days whether or not the information supporting the complaint is correct, and to give any answer or explanation which may be deemed necessary.

- The Subject Company may obtain external advice in order to respond to a Code of Conduct complaint. If external advice is sought, all documents relating to a complaint must be kept confidential and can only be provided for the purpose of seeking such advice.
- If external advice is sought by a Subject Company responding to a complaint, that Company must ensure that the individual to whom a request for advice is sought is provided with sufficient information to form a full and proper view of the complaint under consideration.
- The Subject Company and Complainant will provide Medicines Australia with whatever references or information is deemed by the Chief Executive Officer or their delegate to be necessary to fully investigate the complaint. The complaint and all supporting information and the Subject Company's response shall be provided to the Code Committee
- After the Code Committee has concluded its deliberations and having made such further enquiry as necessary or desirable, the Chief Executive Officer or their delegate will:
  - i. within two (2) working days of the Code Committee meeting notify the Subject Company and the Complainant in writing of the outcome of the hearing.
  - ii. within ten (10) working days of the Code Committee meeting provide copies of the decision(s) and the reasons for the decision(s) of the Code Committee to the Subject Company and the Complainant which will include a full explanation for the decision made and the form of any sanction to be applied to the Subject Company.
- The Code Committee may also request the Code of Conduct Secretary to notify Medicines Australia's Board, and any other bodies or individuals with a direct interest, of the Committee's decision.
- If the Code Committee requires a company to cease certain conduct or withdraw materials from use, the company shall at once comply with the Code Committee's ruling pending any appeal against the decision of the Code Committee. Conduct or materials thus suspended or withdrawn shall not be reactivated before the appeal process has been concluded.
- The Code Committee may refer questions on the interpretation of the Code to the Medicines Australia Board for determination. The Board shall consider such questions and make a determination as soon as possible after it receives notice from the Code Committee of the need for the determination.

### 16.3 - COMPLAINTS AGAINST NON-MEMBERS

- Complaints concerning the conduct of non-members will be forwarded to the non-member with an invitation to have the complaint adjudicated by the Code Committee and the Company's agreement to abide by the Code Committee's decision and any sanctions imposed.
- If the non-member accepts the invitation to have the complaint adjudicated by the Code Committee, the complaint will proceed in accordance with the provisions of the Code of Conduct.
- If the non-member declines the invitation to have the complaint, adjudicated by the Code Committee, Medicines Australia shall have the right, but not the obligation, to forward this complaint, together with the non-member Company's response to the invitation, to the TGA or the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission (ACCC).

### 16.4 - ABUSE OF THE CODE

Medicines Australia takes its obligations of providing a fair and equitable complaints process seriously and will not tolerate abuse or misuse of the process.

• If the Code Committee forms the view that a complaint might be considered frivolous or vexatious, it will request the Complainant Company to provide its response to the concern. The Complainant Company's response must be provided to Medicines Australia within ten (10) working days. The Complainant Company's response will be considered at the next Code Committee meeting. A Company may be found to breach this Section if a single complaint or a series of complaints by a single Complainant against one or more Companies within a therapeutic class is determined to be frivolous or vexatious. A complaint or series of complaints may be found to be frivolous or vexatious regardless of whether or not the complaint or complaints are sustained.

### 16.5 - SANCTIONS

• Sanctions may only be imposed on a Subject Company where breaches of the Code of Conduct have been established. Sanctions may consist of one or more of the following:

Sanction	Description
Cessation of conduct and withdrawal	The Subject Company is required to take immediate action to discontinue or modify any conduct which is determined to constitute a breach of the Code, including the cessation and withdrawal of any promotional activity. Written notification of this action must be provided to Medicines Australia within five (5) working days of receipt of the reasons for the decision(s) of the Code Committee.
Corrective action	The Code Committee may require retraction statements, including corrective letters and advertising, to be issued by the Subject Company. The number, format, size, wording, mode of publication, prominence, timing (including duration of publication) and method of distribution of corrective statements must be approved by the Committee or its delegates prior to release.
	Corrective statements will, in general, specifically correct the statement found in breach of the Code and be in the form prescribed by the Committee. No other material may accompany such statements unless the inclusion of such material has been approved by the Code Committee or its delegates.
	Any corrective action required by the Code Committee must be completed within 30 calendar days of the receipt of the decision(s) and the reasons for the decision(s) of the Code Committee meeting by the Subject Company (subject to any appeal that may be lodged under this Code).
	A Subject Company is required to provide a statement to the effect that the action has been undertaken together with a copy of the published advertisement or a copy of the final version of a corrective letter, signed by the Subject Company Managing Director or Medical Director.
Monetary fine	The Code Committee may impose a monetary fine on the Subject Company in accordance with the schedule of fines below.

• The schedule of fines that may be imposed by the Code Committee or the Appeals Committee for breaches of the Code of Conduct is as follows:

Breach	Maximum Fine
Minor:  no safety implications to patient wellbeing; and no major effect on how the medical profession will prescribe the product	\$100,000
Moderate:	\$150,000
Severe:  • has safety implications to patient wellbeing; and/or • a major effect on how the medical profession will prescribe the product; and/or • activity that has brought discredit to upon or reduce confidence in the pharmaceutical industry Where a severe breach has been found, but there is no opportunity for corrective action	\$200,000
Repeat of Previous Breach	\$250,000
Failure to complete corrective action in 30 calendar days	\$50,000
Failure to pay a fine in 30 calendar days	\$50,000

- In the event that the Code Committee requires a Company to send a corrective letter or place corrective advertising, or pay a monetary fine, the Company shall at once comply with the Code Committee's ruling, subject to the outcome of any appeal against the decision of the Code Committee. Any activity or promotional material thus suspended shall not be reactivated or recommenced before the appeal process has been completed.
- The Code Committee and the Appeals Committee have the discretion to apply a monetary fine for breaches of the Code individually or cumulatively. The fines above may be imposed for each identified breach determined under Section 16 of the Code up to a maximum of \$300,000 per complaint. By way of example, if a moderate breach and a severe breach were determined within one complaint, the Committee may impose a fine of up to \$300,000.
- Where a sanction has not been actioned in accordance with the decision(s) and the reasons for the decision(s) of the Code or Appeals Committee, the Code Committee may impose a fine of up to \$50,000 for that breach of not completing the corrective action or paying the fine within the required period (30 calendar days).
- In addition, Medicines Australia shall have the right, but not the obligation:
  - i. to forward the complaint, the decision(s) and the reasons for the decision(s) of the Code or Appeals Committee meeting, and the failure of the Subject Company to take the corrective action to the TGA or the ACCC; and/or
  - ii. publicise the failure of the Subject Company to take the corrective action.

### 16.6 - APPEALS

The following procedures shall apply if Medicines Australia receives an appeal from a Complainant or Subject Company concerning a decision of the Code of Conduct Committee. The appeal will be heard by the Code of Conduct Appeals Committee (Appeals Committee).

- An appeal is a rehearing of the original complaint. The Appeals Committee has the power to affirm, set aside or vary the findings and/or any sanction which has been imposed by the Code Committee.
   The Appeals Committee shall not uphold an appeal unless it is persuaded that the findings of the Code Committee, or the sanction imposed by it, involved an error on the basis of which they should be set aside or varied.
- The Appeals Committee will determine the appeal on the basis of the evidence before the Code Committee, the submissions made to that Committee, and the submissions made to the Appeals Committee. The Appeals Committee shall have the discretion to receive fresh evidence (being evidence which has become available after the complaint was considered by the Code Committee). However, the Appeals Committee will make its determination in relation to the circumstances that existed at the time the conduct or activity occurred, not the circumstances existing at the time of the Code of Conduct Committee's deliberation or at the appeal. For example, the Appeals Committee will have regard only to what substantiating clinical evidence was published and available at the time a claim subject to complaint was made.
- The appeal is to be dealt with during a meeting of the Appeals Committee. Both the Subject Company and the Complainant may provide an oral presentation to the Appeals Committee.
- Where a Company enlists the assistance of an external expert, the expert shall not act as an advocate for the Company's conduct or activities.
- The findings and/or sanctions imposed by the Code Committee can be appealed by the Complainant or by a Subject Company that has been found in breach of the Code and had a sanction imposed.
- Notice of an appeal by the Complainant or Subject Company must be made in writing within five (5) working days of receiving the decision(s) and the reasons for the decision(s) of the Code Committee. On receipt of an appeal the other party will be notified. The Complainant will be provided with a copy of the Subject Company's response to the complaint.
- The Appellant must submit its written submissions in support of its appeal to Medicines Australia within a further five (5) working days. The written appeal will be provided to the other party, which shall make its written response to the appeal within ten (10) working days. The written appeal submission and any response to the appeal shall be provided to the Appeals Committee.
- In the case of an appeal by the Complainant, the Subject Company's response to the appeal will be provided to the Complainant for review prior to the Appeals Committee meeting.
- When a Subject Company or industry Complainant submits an appeal, the Company must lodge a bond of \$20,000 with Medicines Australia.
- The Appeals Committee has the discretion to refund all, part or none of the bond in the event of the findings and/or the sanction being removed or changed. This bond will be retained by Medicines Australia to defray the costs of the Code and Appeals Committee meetings and contribute to Code education programs.
- A non-industry Complainant will not be required to lodge an appeal bond if it lodges an appeal against the Subject Company.
- In the event of an appeal being lodged by the Subject Company and the Complainant in relation to a single complaint, both appeals will be heard concurrently by the Appeals Committee.

- After the Appeals Committee has concluded its deliberations and having made such further enquiry as necessary or desirable, the Chief Executive Officer or their delegate will:
  - i. within two (2) working days of the Appeals Committee meeting notify the Subject Company and the Complainant in writing of the outcome of the Appeal hearing.
  - ii. within ten (10) working days of the Committee meeting provide copies of the decision(s) and the reasons for the decision(s) of the Appeals Committee to the Subject Company and the Complainant which will include a full explanation for the decision made and the form of any sanction to be applied to the Subject Company.
- A Complainant Company that has had fines imposed by the Code Committee for Abuse of the Code may lodge an appeal against the fine. The appeal, in writing, must be submitted to Medicines Australia by the Complainant within five (5) working days of receiving advice of the fine, addressed to the Secretary of the Code Committee. This appeal will be determined by the Medicines Australia Board.

### 16.7 - MONITORING

To promote compliance with the Medicines Australia Code of Conduct and thereby support the quality use of medicines, the Medicines Australia Monitoring Committee (Monitoring Committee) will proactively monitor conduct of Companies on a regular and ongoing basis. The Monitoring Committee will review activities that are less likely to receive public or another Company's scrutiny.

- Companies will be required to submit to the Monitoring Committee an electronic copy of materials that were in use during a specified three-month period.
- The Monitoring Committee is empowered in any case to request, and Companies must provide, any further information concerning a Company's submission.
- In a calendar year, the Monitoring Committee will review:
  - i. Websites with access restricted to healthcare professionals;
  - ii. Any promotional materials that are in electronic format only;
  - iii. Company policies and procedures to ensure compliance with Medical Representative training;
  - iv. Company policies and procedures to ensure that educational events for healthcare professionals comply with the Code;
  - v. Company policies and procedures to ensure that interactions with non-healthcare professional stakeholders comply with the Code.
- A Company will be required to provide materials or activities for review by the Monitoring Committee on
  no more than three occasions within a calendar year. If a Company responds to a Monitoring Committee
  request that it had not distributed any materials or undertaken any activities that are specified in the
  request, this response will not be counted as one of the three occasions for that company.
- If, following the review of the submitted material or activities, the Monitoring Committee considers that a breach of the Code of Conduct may have occurred, the Company in question will be contacted and asked to state whether the determination of the Monitoring Committee is correct and to give any answer or explanation deemed necessary.
- The Monitoring Committee will consider the Company's response and provide relevant advice on compliance with the Code or, if necessary, refer the matter to the Code Committee as a complaint.

### 17. Committees

### 17.1 - MEMBERSHIP OF THE CODE OF CONDUCT COMMITTEE

The following persons shall be eligible to be "full members" of the Code of Conduct Committee (Code Committee):

- Chair Lawyer with competition and consumer law experience.
- Three general practitioner representatives nominated by the Australian Medical Association (AMA), The Australian General Practice Network (AGPN), and the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP).
- A specialist physician nominated by the Royal Australasian College of Physicians (RACP).
- A person nominated by the Australasian Society of Clinical and Experimental Pharmacologists and Toxicologists (ASCEPT).
- A Consumer representative nominated by a health consumer organisation such as the Consumers Health Forum (CHF). Where a complaint is in relation to an activity or material directed at the general public or patients, a second consumer representative will be appointed.
- Where a complaint relates to an activity or material directed to the practice of pharmacy, a person nominated by any one of the Pharmacy Guild of Australia (PGA), the Pharmaceutical Society of Australia (PSA) or the Society of Hospital Pharmacists of Australia (SHPA) will be called upon.
- Up to a maximum of five representatives from Medicines Australia members drawn from the following, as relevant to the complaint:
  - i. Senior Executive Officers from Medicines Australia Members, as defined in the Medicines Australia Constitution
  - ii. Medical or Scientific Directors
  - iii. Senior Compliance Officers
  - iv. Marketing Directors

#### Quorum

A properly constituted meeting of the Code Committee shall comprise not less than six full members, two
of which must be representatives from Medicines Australia Member Companies and one of which must
be a representative of ASCEPT. All business of the Code Committee will be conducted at a meeting of a
properly constituted Code Committee.

### Observers

- In addition to the full members of the Committee, the following persons may attend a meeting of the Code Committee as observers:
  - i. One representative of the Therapeutic Goods Administration, as nominated by the Therapeutic Goods Administration;
  - ii. Observers nominated by Medicines Australia who would gain an educational benefit from attendance at a Code Committee meeting and who have no conflict of interest;
  - iii. Medicines Australia Chief Executive Officer or delegate.
- Subject to the discretion of the Chair, observers will be entitled to attend and speak at properly constituted meetings of the Code Committee.

### Secretariat

- The Code Committee will be assisted in administering the business of the Committee by a Code Secretariat comprising:
  - i. The Code of Conduct Secretary; and/or
  - ii. The Medicines Australia officer responsible for the Ethics and Compliance Program.
- Observers and members of the Code Secretariat attending a Code Committee meeting shall have no voting rights.

#### 17.2. - MEMBERSHIP OF THE APPEALS COMMITTEE

The following persons shall be eligible to be "full members" of the Appeals Committee:

- Chair Lawyer with competition and consumer law experience.
- A representative from the College and/or Society associated with the therapeutic class of the product subject to appeal.
- A general practitioner representative, nominated by the AMA, RACGP and/or AGPN.
- A consumer representative, nominated by a health consumer organisation such as CHF. Where an appeal is in relation to an activity or material directed at the general public or patients, a second consumer representative will be appointed.
- A person nominated by the Australasian Society of Clinical and Experimental Pharmacologists and Toxicologists (ASCEPT).
- Up to a maximum of three representatives from Medicines Australia members, drawn from the following, as relevant to the complaint:
  - i. Medicines Australia Member Company Senior Executive Officers, as defined in the Medicines Australia Constitution
  - ii. Medical or Scientific Directors
  - iii. Senior Compliance Officers
  - iv. Marketing Directors
- Where a complaint relates to an activity or material directed to the practice of pharmacy, a person nominated by any one of the Pharmacy Guild of Australia (PGA), the Pharmaceutical Society of Australia (PSA) or the Society of Hospital Pharmacists of Australia (SHPA) will be called upon.
- Medicines Australia may release to the Complainant or the Subject Company the names of the representatives nominated by the College and/or Society associated with the therapeutic class of the product or activity subject to appeal, on the condition that neither party makes contact with these experts prior to or after the Appeals Committee meeting.

### Quorum

- A properly constituted meeting of the Appeals Committee shall comprise not less than three full members, one of which must be a representative of a Medicines Australia Member Company. All business of the Appeals Committee will be conducted at a meeting of a properly constituted Appeals Committee.
- No member of the Appeals Committee can have been a member of the Code Committee that heard the original complaint.

### Observers

- In addition to the full members of the Appeals Committee, at the discretion of the Chair, the Medicines Australia Chief Executive Officer or delegate may attend a meeting of the Appeals Committee as an observer.
- Observers nominated by Medicines Australia who would gain an educational benefit from attendance at a Code Committee meeting and who have no conflict of interest;
- Subject to the discretion of the Chair, observers will be entitled to attend and speak at properly constituted meeting of the Appeals Committee.

### Secretariat

- The Appeals Committee will be assisted in administering the business of the Committee by a Code Secretariat comprising:
  - i. The Code of Conduct Secretary; and/or
  - ii. The Medicines Australia officer responsible for the administration of the Code of Conduct
- Observers and members of the Code Secretariat attending an Appeals Committee meeting shall have no voting rights.

### 17.3 - MEMBERSHIP OF THE MONITORING COMMITTEE

The following persons shall be eligible to be "full members" of the Monitoring Committee:

- Chair a consultant with industry experience in marketing and knowledge of the Code of Conduct
- A general practitioner representative, nominated by the AMA, RACGP and/or AGPN
- A representative from the College and/or Society associated with the therapeutic class of the material being reviewed
- A consumer representative, nominated by a health consumer organisation such as the CHF. Where the review is in relation to an activity or material directed at the general public or patients, a second consumer representative will be appointed.
- Up to a maximum of two representatives from Medicines Australia members, drawn from the following, as relevant to the subject matter under consideration for monitoring:
  - i. Medicines Australia Member Company Senior Executive Officers, as defined in the Medicines Australia Constitution
  - ii. Medical or Scientific Directors
  - iii. Senior Compliance Officers
  - iv. Marketing Directors

### Quorum

• A properly constituted meeting of the Monitoring Committee shall comprise no less than three full members, one of which must be a Consumer representative and one of which must be a representative of a Medicines Australia Member Company. All business of the Monitoring Committee will be conducted at a meeting of a properly constituted Monitoring Committee.

### Observers

- In addition to the full members of the Monitoring Committee, the following persons may attend a meeting of the Monitoring Committee as non-voting observers:
  - i. Up to two employees of Medicines Australia Companies nominated by Medicines Australia who would gain an educational benefit from attendance at a Monitoring Committee meeting and who have no conflict of interest;
  - ii. One observer nominated by Medicines Australia who would gain an educational benefit from attendance at a Monitoring Committee meeting and who has no conflicts of interest;
  - iii. Medicines Australia Chief Executive Officer or delegate.
- Subject to the discretion of the Chair, observers will be entitled to attend and speak at properly constituted meetings of the Monitoring Committee.

### Secretariat

- The Monitoring Committee will be assisted in administering the business of the Committee by a Code Secretariat comprising:
  - i. The Code of Conduct Secretary; and/or
  - ii. The Medicines Australia officer responsible for the administration of the Code of Conduct.
- Observers and members of the Code Secretariat attending a Monitoring Committee meeting shall have no voting rights.

### 17.4 - PROCEDURE OF APPOINTMENT

Medicines Australia will ensure the fair and equitable selection of members for the Code, Appeals and Monitorina Committees. Membership selection procedures are outlined in the Code Tool Kit.

### 17.5 - CONFLICT OF INTEREST

- In advance of each Code, Appeals or Monitoring Committee meeting advice will be sought from all participants in the Committee as to whether there is any conflict of interest associated with the prescription product or activity subject to complaint, the Subject Company, the Complainant, or the material subject to monitoring.
- In addition to the requirement to disclose a direct or indirect pecuniary interest in a matter about to be considered by a Committee, members and observers should also disclose a conflict of interest if a reasonable third party would conclude that there was a likelihood that a member of a Committee may be influenced in reaching a decision by factors other than the merits of the case as presented by the Subject Company and Complainant, or in the materials contained within the monitoring review.
- At the commencement of each Committee meeting, the Chair will again enquire as to whether any Committee member or observer has a conflict of interest associated with the prescription product or activity in relation to the complaint has been lodged, the Complainant or the Subject Company, or the materials subject to monitoring. The Code Committee, Appeals Committee or Monitoring Committee, as relevant, will determine the appropriate action following this disclosure.

### 17.6 - TERM OF APPOINTMENT

Members of the Code, Appeals and Monitoring Committees, including the Chair, will be appointed for a period of three years and will be eligible for re-nomination at the completion of their term for a maximum of two (2) terms.

# 18. Code of Conduct Reporting

Medicines Australia is committed to the transparency of its conduct in administering the Code of Conduct. Medicines Australia will publish information relating to:

- Complaints considered by the Code and Appeals Committee on its website within one month of the completion of that activity.
- Outcomes of reviews conducted by the Monitoring Committee. This report will be published on Medicines Australia's website and will include the number of items reviewed, the number and type of breaches detected, and the number of Code of Conduct complaints generated

# Glossary

**Advertisement** is defined<sup>1</sup> as making any statement, pictorial representation or design that is intended, whether directly or indirectly, to promote the use or supply of the goods, including where the statement, pictorial representation or design:

- (a) is on the label of the goods; or
- (b) is on the package in which the goods are contained; or
- (c) is on any material included with the package in which the goods are contained

**Advertorial** means<sup>2</sup> content that looks like editorial content but is published under a commercial arrangement between an advertiser, promoter or sponsor of goods and/or services and the publisher.

**Advisory Board** means a group of healthcare professionals with specific expertise contracted by a company to meet to provide advice on a Company's product, group of products or general disease management.

**Australian Approved Names** means the active ingredients or chemical components of a product.

Australasian Congress means a congress held in Australia that is organised and controlled by an Australasian (or Australian and New Zealand) College or Society, or where a College or Society in New Zealand is actively organising and has joint control over the congress with an Australian Society or College.

**Australian Privacy Legislation** means the Privacy Act 1988 (Cth) and related legislation.

**Balanced** refers to information presented in full, without bias.

**Boxed Warning<sup>3</sup>** is a mechanism adopted by the TGA to highlight special warning statements in the Product Information (PI) to the prescriber and patient that could significantly alter the risk for patients when prescribed the product.

**Brand name** for the purpose of the Code of Conduct has the same meaning as 'proprietary name' which is the registered trade mark of the therapeutic product or the unique name assigned to the product.

**Chief Executive Officer** means that person appointed to manage the affairs of Medicines Australia Ltd in accordance with the Constitution of Medicines Australia.

Clinical research means planned research involving humans which is designed to investigate and report upon the effectiveness (including, but not limited to pharmacokinetics, dosage regimens, routes of administration, efficacy) and/or safety (including tolerability, immunogenicity, side effect profile, drug interactions) of a medicine.

**Code of Conduct Secretary** means that person appointed by the Medicines Australia Board to act as Secretary to the Code of Conduct Committee.

**Code Tool Kit** means the current Code of Conduct Resource Code Tool Kit.

**Company** means companies supplying prescription products in Australia.

Company representatives are those persons, including medical representatives, authorised by a Company to disseminate information about a product to healthcare professionals.

**Competition** means any activity that includes an element of chance or random selection.

**Congress** means an event sponsored and organised by a Society, College, university or other non-company entity.

Consultant means an Australian healthcare professional or a group of Australian healthcare professionals providing consulting services to a company in relation to specific projects. For the purpose of reporting consultant services, these are regarded as different from providing advice as a member of an Advisory Board.

**Consumers** are persons other than healthcare professionals.

Consumer Medicine Information<sup>4</sup> (CMI) a leaflet that contains information on the safe and effective use of a prescription or specified over-the-counter medicine. A CMI document is written by the pharmaceutical company (sponsor) responsible for the medicine.

<sup>1</sup> the Therapeutic Goods Advertising Code (No.2) 2018, or any subsequent version of this document

 $<sup>2 \</sup>quad \text{Adapted from Australian Press Council 2005 (https://www.presscouncil.org.au/document-search/guideline-advertorials-june-2005/)} \\$ 

<sup>3</sup> https://www.tga.gov.au/publication/boxed-warning-guidance

<sup>4</sup> https://www.tga.gov.au/consumer-medicines-information-cmi

**Data on File** is that body of unpublished clinical or scientific information held by a company. It does not include evaluated data submitted to the TGA in accordance with the Australian Regulatory Guidelines for Prescription Medicines.

**Educational material** means any representation or literature which is intended to provide information about a medical condition or therapy which does not contain specific promotional claims.

**Entertainment** means the provision of any diversion or amusement.

**General Public** are persons other than healthcare professionals (see also Consumers).

**Graphics** means the use of any pictorial or graphical representation in promotional material, including photographs, drawings, xrays, graphs and bar charts, but excludes any related promotional text.

Healthcare professional means a healthcare professional registered to practice in Australia who in the course of their professional activities may prescribe, dispense, recommend, supply or administer a prescription medicine in Australia.

Health consumer organisations are not-for-profit organisations that represent the interests and views of consumers of health care. They may range from small volunteer groups to large organisations, and generally promote views that are independent of government, the pharmaceutical industry and professional health service providers.

**Hospitality** means the provision of food and/or beverages.

**IFPMA** means International Federation of Pharmaceutical Manufacturers and Associations. The IFPMA represents the research-based pharmaceutical companies and associations around the world.

**Information** means educational facts regarding the attributes of a product.

**Industry** means all companies supplying prescription products in Australia.

**International congress** means a congress held in Australia where a Society or College in an overseas country is actively organising and has joint control over the conference with an Australian Society or College.

**Journal** means a serial publication whose distribution is restricted to the members of the healthcare professions.

**Literature** means that body of published trials, findings and reviews which have appeared in medical and scientific publications.

**Market research** is the gathering of data on the scope or dimensions of a market and its components, including the needs of the customers in that market.

Medical information websites contain information and standard responses prepared by a Company's medical information function in order to provide education or resources for Australian healthcare professionals. The website must not contain any advertising or promotional information.

**Medicine delivery device** is any device used for the administration of a prescribed product, including Schedule 3 products that are predominantly prescribed by a medical practitioner, that is distributed independently from the active ingredient. The device will be listed with the TGA as a device.

Medicines Australia endorsed education program means the professional training program developed by Medicines Australia. It is compulsory for all sales representatives employed by pharmaceutical companies to undertake this training. Also known as the Continuing Education Program (CEP).

**Member** means an entity registered as a Member of Medicines Australia Ltd.

**Minimum Product Information (MPI)** means information provided to a healthcare professional in the context of viewing promotional material which provides a succinct precis of the Product Information.

Patient Aids include written information, password-protected websites providing product-specific information and social media forums with access restricted to patients prescribed a specific product. It also includes items that may assist patients to take or administer their medicine, carry or dispose of their medicine, or monitor their treatment, including mobile media applications.

Patient Support Program (PSP) is a Companydeveloped program that is intended to assist patients in gaining benefit from their prescribed medical treatment, to improve health outcomes and promote the quality use of medicines.

**Personal information** has the same meaning as the Privacy Act 1988 (Cth).

**PBS** means the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme of the Commonwealth Department of Health.

Prescribing software means a program on a healthcare professional's computer which is used in the decision-making process with a patient prior to generating a script. They may also contain patient records, Product Information, access to information on drug interactions and other educational information.

<sup>5</sup> Adapted from: Ethical criteria for medicinal drug promotion. World Health Organization, Geneva, 1988

**Product** means any pharmaceutical dose form and/ or delivery method that is approved for registration by the TGA for human therapeutic use, provided that such compound has been scheduled for sale or distribution by prescription only in at least one of the States of Australia or that such compound is primarily promoted to medical practitioners for the purpose of encouraging them to prescribe or recommend usage of that compound.

Product Information (PI) means either the current Australian Approved Product Information or in the case of a product whose registration pre-dates the current regulatory review ('Grandfathered Product') the document registered is known as the 'Full Product Information'. This Product Information must comply with the format specified in the TGA Australian Regulatory Guidelines for Prescription Medicines.

**Promote** means, in the context of the definition of 'advertisement', all informational and persuasive activities, the purpose, actual or likely effect of which is to induce or discourage the purchase, sale, supply and/or use of therapeutic products.<sup>5</sup>

Promotion, Promotional or Promotional claim means any statement made by a company or company's representative, whether verbal or written, which conveys the positive attributes of a product which extend beyond a simple nonqualitative or quantitative description of the therapeutic category or approved indication for the purpose of encouraging the usage of that product. It includes statements concerning efficacy, rate of adverse effects or other cautionary aspects of the product and comparative information.

**Promotional material** means any representation concerning the attributes of a product conveyed by any means whatever for the purpose of encouraging the usage of a product.

Quality Use of Medicines (QUM) means: selecting management options wisely; choosing suitable medicines if a medicine is considered necessary; and using medicines safely and effectively. See <a href="https://www1.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/nmp-quality.htm-copy2">https://www1.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/nmp-quality.htm-copy2</a>

**Reasonable** means generally accepted by most people to be appropriate in the circumstances.

**Registration** is the issue by the TGA of an AUST.R number for a product approved for marketing in Australia in accordance with the Therapeutic Goods Act and Regulations.

**Repeat of previous breach** means where the same or similar breach is repeated in the promotion of a particular product of a company which had been found in breach.

**Research and development** includes any early-stage research, such as target discovery, drug discovery, mechanism of action or proof of concept studies; preclinical research, such as toxicological studies; and human clinical trials.

**Sales representative** means a person expressly employed by a company whose main purpose is the promotion of the Company's products to healthcare professionals.

**Scientific exchange** means the sharing of scientific information concerning a pharmaceutical product, including sharing investigational findings in scientific media, direct communications and at scientific conferences.

**Social Media** is an umbrella term that incorporates the various online platforms and activities that engage users to participate in, comment on and create digital content, and to allow them to interact, share information and network with others, including peer-to-peer conversations.

**Starter pack** means a small pack size of a product supplied at no cost to medical practitioners, dentists and hospital pharmacists. Starter packs are also referred to as 'samples' by healthcare professionals.

**Substantiation** means to give reasonable grounds in support of a promotional claim.

**Supplier** means the same as 'Company' – companies supplying prescription product in Australia.

**Superlative** means expressing the highest degree of quality or comparison

**Therapeutic class** means the classification system used for defining and grouping products in an approved reference manual.

**Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA)** is the Division of the Commonwealth Department of Health that is responsible for the regulation of therapeutic goods in Australia.

**Trade Display** means a display or exhibit of promotional or educational material about a product or products.

**Trade pack** means a package of a product which is sold by the Company.

**Transfer of Value** means a direct or indirect transfer of value, whether in cash, in kind or otherwise. A direct transfer of value is one made directly by a company for the benefit of the recipient. An indirect transfer of value is one made by a third party on behalf of a company for the benefit of a recipient where the identity of the company is known to, or can be identified by, the recipient.





Better health through research and innovation